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THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

In The Supreme Court 


In the Matter of Thomas Ryan Phillips, Respondent 

Appellate Case No. 2015-000969 

Opinion No. 27566 

Heard August 5, 2015 – Filed August 26, 2015 


PUBLIC REPRIMAND 

Lesley M. Coggiola, Disciplinary Counsel, and William 
C. Campbell, Assistant Disciplinary Counsel, both of 
Columbia, for Office of Disciplinary Counsel.  

Harvey M. Watson, III, Esquire, of Ballard & Watson, of 
West Columbia, for Respondent. 

PER CURIAM: In this attorney disciplinary matter, respondent and the Office 
of Disciplinary Counsel (ODC) have entered into an Agreement for Discipline by 
Consent (Agreement) pursuant to Rule 21 of the Rules for Lawyer Disciplinary 
Enforcement (RLDE) contained in Rule 413 of the South Carolina Appellate Court 
Rules (SCACR). In the Agreement, respondent admits misconduct and consents to 
the imposition of an admonition or public reprimand.  In addition, respondent 
agrees to pay the costs incurred in the investigation and prosecution of this matter 
by ODC and the Commission on Lawyer Conduct (the Commission) within thirty 
(30) days of the imposition of discipline and to complete the Legal Ethics and 
Practice Program Ethics School, Trust Account School and Advertising School 
within six (6) months of the imposition of a sanction.  We accept the Agreement, 
issue a public reprimand, and impose conditions as stated hereafter in this opinion. 
The facts, as set forth in the Agreement, are as follows. 
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Facts 

Respondent admits he engaged in a sexual relationship with Client while 
representing her in a divorce proceeding.  Respondent maintains, however, he gave 
Client competent and diligent representation and the relationship did not impact the 
representation. Respondent counseled Client as to her options and the possible 
consequences and risks associated with the options.  Client was adamant in her 
demands that her husband only have restricted visitation with their child and that 
she wanted to be divorced from her husband. 

The divorce action was filed on Client's behalf alleging husband's habitual 
drunkenness as grounds for the divorce. The divorce was granted to Client on 
those grounds. Husband was granted very restricted visitation with the child based 
on his continued alcohol abuse.  Alimony was not sought by Client as she earned 
considerably more than her husband.  Alimony was barred as to the husband as he 
could not deny his contribution to the breakup of the marriage.   

Respondent and Client ended the physical aspects of their relationship not long 
after the final decree was issued in July 2011.  Respondent and Client 
communicated after the physical relationship ended as respondent answered 
Client's questions regarding the wording or application of the final divorce decree.   

Sometime later, Client, represented by new counsel, brought another action against 
her now ex-husband to terminate his parental rights based on his continued abuse 
of alcohol and the threat he posed to the child. Although he did not represent 
Client, respondent admittedly became involved in the case when Client was 
presented with a crisis1 and Client's new counsel was out of town and unavailable.  
Respondent's only involvement in this action consisted of counseling Client during 
the crisis. 

ODC asserts respondent fully cooperated in its investigation of this matter, that he 
showed genuine remorse and fully admitted responsibility for his actions, and that 
his representation of Client was not adversely affected by his misconduct. 

1 The crisis occurred when Client's ex-husband made persistent calls to Client 
threatening to injure himself over her latest domestic action.   
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Law 

Respondent admits that by his conduct he has violated the following provisions of 
the Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 407, SCACR:  Rule 1.8(m) (lawyer shall 
not have sexual relations with client when client is in vulnerable condition or 
otherwise subject to control or undue influence of lawyer, when such relations 
could have harmful or prejudicial effect upon the interests of client, or when sexual 
relations might adversely affect lawyer’s representation of client) and Rule 8.4(e) 
(it is professional misconduct for lawyer to engage in conduct prejudicial to 
administration of justice). 

Respondent also admits he has violated the following Rules for Lawyer 
Disciplinary Enforcement, Rule 413, SCACR:  Rule 7(A)(1) (it shall be ground for 
discipline for lawyer to violate Rules of Professional Conduct). 

Conclusion 

We find respondent's misconduct warrants a public reprimand.  Accordingly, we 
accept the Agreement and publicly reprimand respondent for his misconduct.  
Within thirty (30) days of the date of this opinion, respondent shall pay the costs 
incurred in the investigation and prosecution of this matter by ODC and the 
Commission.  Within six (6) months of the date of this opinion, respondent shall 
attend and complete the Legal Ethics and Practice Program Ethics School, Trust 
Account School, and Advertising School and, no later than ten (10) days after the 
completion of the programs, submit proof of completion to the Commission.   

PUBLIC REPRIMAND. 

TOAL, C.J., PLEICONES, BEATTY, KITTREDGE and HEARN, JJ., 
concur. 
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THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

In The Supreme Court 


Bonnie L. McKinney, f/k/a Bonnie L. Pedery, 
Respondent, 

v. 

Frank J. Pedery, Petitioner. 

Appellate Case No. 2013-002601 

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS 

Appeal From Greenville County 

Billy A. Tunstall, Jr., Family Court Judge 


Opinion No. 27567 

Heard May 7, 2015 – Filed August 26, 2015 


REVERSED AND REMANDED 

Kenneth C. Porter, of Porter & Rosenfeld, of Greenville,  
for Petitioner. 

Kim R. Varner, of Varner & Segura, and J. Falkner 
Wilkes, both of Greenville, for Respondent . 

CHIEF JUSTICE TOAL: Petitioner Frank J. Pedery argues the court of appeals 
erred in affirming the family court's termination of Respondent Bonnie 
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McKinney's alimony obligation to him and the family court's failure to award 
Pedery attorney's fees. We reverse and remand. 

FACTS/PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

 Pedery and McKinney divorced on May 3, 2006.  In the family court's final 
order granting the divorce, the family court approved an agreement entered into by 
Pedery and McKinney, wherein McKinney agreed to pay Pedery permanent 
periodic alimony of $1,500 per month. In June 2009, McKinney sought a 
reduction or termination of her alimony obligation based on Pedery's continued 
cohabitation with his paramour, Cynthia Hamby, and a substantial change of 
circumstances.  See S.C. Code Ann. § 20-3-130(B)(1) (Supp. 2012) (providing that 
periodic alimony terminates upon the "continued cohabitation of the supported 
spouse" and is "terminable and modifiable based upon changed circumstances 
occurring in the future"). According to McKinney, a decrease in her income and 
deterioration of her health constituted the substantial change in circumstances.    

The family court held a hearing on May 11, 2011. At the hearing, 
McKinney called a private investigator, Tim Greaves, as a witness to testify in 
support of her allegation that Pedery was cohabitating with Hamby.  Greaves 
testified that he monitored Pedery's house in Mauldin, South Carolina, daily from 
January until June, 2009. According to Greaves, during that time, Hamby typically 
stayed at Pedery's house from Wednesday afternoon until Monday morning of each 
week. Greaves testified that on Monday mornings, Hamby commuted to Duncan, 
South Carolina, where she worked as a nanny for her grandchildren until 
Wednesday afternoons. 

Greaves testified that inside Pedery's house,1 Hamby's toiletries and 
"feminine items" such as curling irons occupied the bathroom, and the master 
bedroom closet held women's clothing.2  Further, Greaves observed Pedery and 
Hamby buying groceries together, and it appeared that Pedery paid for the 
groceries. 

1 Greaves gained access to the house when Pedery listed the house for sale.   

2 Pedery acknowledged that at least some of the items belonged to Hamby.   
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Pedery testified that he began a relationship with Hamby in 2007 or 2008.  
When Pedery met Hamby, she lived with her son in Duncan, and also worked there 
as a nanny for her grandchildren, as she still did at the time of the hearing.  Pedery 
testified that Hamby began spending nights with him approximately six or eight 
months after they began seeing each other.  According to Pedery, Hamby "lives" 
with her son, where she has a room of her own, and only "visits" Pedery at his 
house. Pedery stated that Hamby leaves her possessions in both places, and when 
she leaves Pedery's house to go to her son's house, she packs a "little overnight 
bag" containing underwear. 

At the hearing, McKinney offered the testimony of her manager at work— 
Franklin Sharp, as well as that of an employee of a direct competitor—William 
Hall—to corroborate her claim that her alimony should be reduced or terminated as 
a result of her decrease in income. Hall, the direct competitor's employee, testified 
that beginning in 2008, the competition in their field of work—insuring trucks— 
increased, and forced businesses to lower insurance rates.  Although Sharp did not 
testify as to McKinney's salary, he testified that because of the increase in 
competition, his own salary had decreased by fifty percent in the previous three or 
four years. McKinney testified that her income had decreased from $230,121 in 
2007 to $119,605 in 2010.  McKinney further stated that her health had declined 
since the divorce, and that she suffers from high blood pressure, diabetes, arthritis, 
osteoporosis, and lupus. 

On August 26, 2011, the family court issued an order terminating 
McKinney's alimony obligation based on its finding that Pedery "continuously 
resided with [Hamby] for not only in excess of ninety days but on a continuous 
basis for an extended period of time . . . ."  As for Hamby's absences from Pedery's 
house, the family court found that they "were a requirement of [her] job and that 
[Pedery] was not attempting to use them to circumvent the intent of the law . . . ."  
Therefore, the family court found that "any absences from her residence is in the 
line of her job and do not constitute a stop of the residency . . . ."  Because 
McKinney prevailed, the family court found that neither party was entitled to 
attorney's fees. 

The court of appeals affirmed the family court's order.  McKinney v. Pedery, 
406 S.C. 1, 12, 749 S.E.2d 119, 125 (Ct. App. 2013).  The court of appeals found 
that Pedery and Hamby "shared a home on a continuous and uninterrupted basis for 
substantially longer than ninety days," and then held that "Hamby's departure was 
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more akin to a temporary absence for out-of-town travel than it was to routine 
separation based on separate residences."  Id. at 8, 749 S.E.2d at 123. The court of 
appeals reasoned that 

to conclude the parties did not continuously cohabitate for at least 
ninety consecutive days because of Hamby's routine travel to care for 
her grandchildren in Duncan would run afoul of the legislative intent 
underpinning this section.  To interpret this section as Pedery 
advances would allow any break in the ninety days to defeat a 
continuous cohabitation argument, rendering this section virtually 
unenforceable. For example, any time a paramour and supported 
spouse are briefly away from each other, whether it be for an out-of-
town work trip, an overnight hospital stay, or for a weekend vacation, 
the family court would be prohibited from applying this section. We 
do not believe the Legislature intended for such a result.  

Id. at 10–11, 749 S.E.2d at 124 (internal citations omitted). 

Therefore, the court found that Pedery and Hamby's living arrangements 
amounted to "continued cohabitation" under section 20-3-130(B) of the South 
Carolina Code. Id. at 11, 749 S.E.2d at 125. Further, the court of appeals affirmed 
the family court's decision to deny Pedery's request for attorney's fees.  Id. at 11– 
12, 749 S.E.2d at 125. 

Judge Konduros dissented on the ground that the statutory requirements of 
section 20-3-130(B) were not satisfied under the plain language of the statute.  Id. 
at 12–13, 749 S.E.2d at 125–26 (Konduros, J., dissenting).  Judge Konduros 
pointed out that Hamby lived with her son prior to becoming romantically involved 
with Pedery and still had her own room there, and she spent approximately four to 
five nights per week at Pedery's house—a course of conduct which was a regular 
occurrence every week. Id. (Konduros, J., dissenting).  In Judge Konduros's view, 
this evidence did not support a finding that Pedery and Hamby continually resided 
together for at least ninety consecutive days or that they separated to avoid the 
termination of his alimony.  Id. at 13, 749 S.E.2d at 126 (Konduros, J., dissenting). 

This Court granted Pedery's petition for writ of certiorari to review the court 
of appeals' opinion pursuant to Rule 242, SCACR. 
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ISSUES PRESENTED 

I.	 Whether the court of appeals erred in affirming the family 
court's termination of Pedery's alimony based on its finding that 
Pedery continuously cohabitated with his paramour under 
section 20-3-130(B) of the South Carolina Code? 

II.	 Whether the court of appeals erred in affirming the family 
court's decision to decline to award Pedery attorney's fees? 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"In appeals from the family court, this Court reviews factual and legal issues 
de novo." Simmons v. Simmons, 392 S.C. 412, 414–15, 709 S.E.2d 666, 667 
(2011). To that end, an appellate court may find facts in accordance with its own 
view of the preponderance of the evidence.  Dickert v. Dickert, 387 S.C. 1, 5–6, 
691 S.E.2d 448, 450 (2010). "'However, this broad scope of review does not 
require this Court to disregard the findings of the family court,'" as the family court 
"was in a superior position to make credibility determinations."  Lewis v. Lewis, 
392 S.C. 381, 384–85, 709 S.E.2d 650, 651–52 (2011) (quoting Eason v. Eason, 
384 S.C. 473, 479, 682 S.E.2d 804, 807 (2009)).   

"Questions concerning alimony rest within the sound discretion of the family 
court judge whose conclusion will not be disturbed absent a showing of abuse of 
discretion."  Eason, 384 S.C. at 479, 682 S.E.2d at 807 (citing Degenhart v. 
Burriss, 360 S.C. 497, 500, 602 S.E.2d 96, 97 (Ct. App. 2004)). An abuse of 
discretion occurs when the decision is controlled by some error of law or is based 
on findings of fact that are without evidentiary support.  Id. 

LAW/ANALYSIS 

I.	 Section 20-3-130(B)(1) 

Where the family court has previously awarded periodic alimony, the 
periodic alimony terminates "on the remarriage or continued cohabitation of the 
supported spouse" and is "terminable and modifiable based upon changed 
circumstances occurring in the future."  S.C. Code Ann. § 20-3-130(B)(1).  The 
family court may terminate or modify the award based upon changed 
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circumstances when there is a substantial or material change in circumstances, 
such as changes in a party's health or income.  S.C. Code Ann. § 20-3-130(B)(1); 
Thornton v. Thornton, 328 S.C. 96, 111, 492 S.E.2d 86, 94 (1997). 

According to McKinney, her periodic alimony obligation to Pedery should 
be terminated based upon both Pedery's continued cohabitation with Hamby as 
well as a change in McKinney's circumstances.       

a. Continuous Cohabitation 

i. Ninety or More Consecutive Days 

Pedery argues that McKinney failed to meet her burden of proof with regard 
to her argument that Pedery continuously cohabitated with Hamby for purposes of 
section 20-3-130(B).  We agree. 

Under section 20-3-130(B)(1) of the South Carolina Code, periodic alimony 
terminates on the "continued cohabitation of the supported spouse."  S.C. Code 
Ann. § 20-3-130(B)(1). The party seeking modification has the burden to show by 
the preponderance of the evidence that a change has occurred.  Miles v. Miles, 393 
S.C. 111, 120, 711 S.E.2d 880, 885 (2011); Cartee v. Cartee, 295 S.C. 103, 104, 
366 S.E.2d 269, 269 (Ct. App. 1988) (quoting Boney v. Boney, 289 S.C. 596, 597, 
347 S.E.2d 890, 891 (Ct. App. 1986)); see Feldman v. Feldman, 380 S.C. 538, 670 
S.E.2d 669 (Ct. App. 2008) (finding that testimony produced at trial supported the 
family court's conclusion that the husband failed to carry his burden of proof that 
the wife continuously cohabitated with her boyfriend under section 20-3-130(B)). 

For purposes of section 20-3-130, "continued cohabitation means the 
supported spouse resides with another person in a romantic relationship for a 
period of ninety or more consecutive days."  S.C. Code Ann. § 20-3-130(B). We 
further defined "continuous cohabitation" in Strickland v. Strickland, 375 S.C. 76, 
650 S.E.2d 465 (2007), stating that within this context, the term "resides with" 
"sets forth a requirement that the supported spouse live under the same roof as the 
person with whom they are romantically involved for at least ninety consecutive 
days." Id. at 89, 650 S.E.2d at 472 (emphasis added).  As we stated, "[a]ny other 
interpretation essentially takes the 'cohabitation' out of 'continued cohabitation.'" 
Id. 
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This Court and the court of appeals have applied Strickland's rationale in 
several cases.  See Eason v. Eason, 384 S.C. 473, 682 S.E.2d 804 (2009); Biggins 
v. Burdette, 392 S.C. 241, 708 S.E.2d 237 (Ct. App. 2011); Fiddie v. Fiddie, 384 
S.C. 120, 681 S.E.2d 42 (Ct. App. 2009); Feldman, 380 S.C. at 538; 670 S.E.2d at 
669; Semken v. Semken, 379 S.C. 71, 664 S.E.2d 493 (Ct. App. 2008). 

These cases demonstrate that since Strickland, this Court and the court of 
appeals have strictly interpreted the language of section 20-3-130(B).  For 
example, in Biggins v. Burdette, the wife and her boyfriend spent approximately 
sixty nights together during their relationship; however the wife spent the night 
apart from him on several occasions, including when various family members 
visited and when she traveled out of town to care for her ailing mother.  392 S.C. at 
243, 708 S.E.2d at 238. The court of appeals affirmed the family court's denial of 
the husband's motion to terminate alimony based on continued cohabitation 
because: the wife and her boyfriend testified that they did not spend ninety 
consecutive nights together; the boyfriend maintained his own residence where he 
kept most of his personal items; and the private investigator confirmed that they 
merely spent the night together on a recurring basis,. Id. at 245, 708 S.E.2d at 239; 
see also Fiddie, 384 S.C. at 124, 681 S.E.2d at 44 (upholding the family court's 
refusal to terminate a husband's alimony obligation where the husband contended 
that the wife continuously cohabitated with a male friend, but the wife maintained 
that she spent time with a friend at least twice a month and with her sister once a 
month so that she did not stay full-time with her male friend, and thus, "wear out 
her welcome"). 

 Similarly, in Eason, the husband argued that the family court erred in not 
terminating the wife's alimony based on continuous cohabitation with her 
boyfriend.  384 S.C. at 482, 682 S.E.2d at 808.  While the wife and her boyfriend 
admitted that they had lived together at times, they never cohabitated for more than 
two to four weeks at a time—a contention supported by other testimony at trial.  Id. 
Therefore, citing the language in Strickland, we affirmed the family court's finding 
that the wife was not barred from receiving alimony based on continuous 
cohabitation with her boyfriend. 384 S.C. at 482, 682 S.E.2d at 808.   

Semken v. Semken involves facts similar to the present case.  In Semken, the 
husband sought to terminate his obligation to pay permanent periodic alimony 
because he claimed that the wife had resided with her boyfriend for more than 
ninety consecutive days. 379 S.C. at 73, 664 S.E.2d at 495.  In that case, the wife 
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lived in one of her boyfriend's residences, paying him $500 per month in rent.  Id. 
The boyfriend stored some of his belongings in the house and kept a car in the 
garage. Id.  Although the family court found that the boyfriend maintained two 
residences—one of which was where the wife resided—and found that the wife 
and boyfriend had not spent every night together for more than ninety consecutive 
days, the family court terminated the husband's alimony obligation.  See id. at 77, 
664 S.E.2d at 497. The family court reasoned that the wife and her boyfriend 
resided together because both claimed the same home as a residence at the same 
time. See id. 

The court of appeals reversed, finding that while the wife and her boyfriend 
were romantically involved, they did not engage in continuous cohabitation as 
defined by Strickland. Id. at 77–78, 664 S.E.2d at 497. According to the court of 
appeals, the evidence showed that the boyfriend did not live under the same roof as 
the wife for ninety consecutive days, and therefore, the wife's relationship with her 
boyfriend did not amount to "continuous cohabitation" under Strickland.  See id. 

Here, because McKinney sought termination of her alimony obligation to 
Pedery, she bore the burden to show by a preponderance of the evidence that 
Hamby resided with Pedery for at least ninety days.  See Miles, 393 S.C. at 120, 
711 S.E.2d at 885; Cartee, 295 S.C. at 104, 366 S.E.2d at 269 (quoting Boney, 289 
S.C. at 597, 347 S.E.2d at 891). We find that McKinney did not satisfy that 
burden; accordingly, the family court should have denied her motion for 
termination of her alimony obligation.   

We do not deny that the facts indicate that Pedery and Hamby's living 
situation is a permanent arrangement of a romantic nature.  Rather, we focus on the 
specific requirement under the plain language of section 20-3-130(B).  If the 
statute merely required the supported spouse to "reside with" his paramour, then 
termination of McKinney's alimony obligation would be proper.  However, the 
statute mandates cohabitation for ninety consecutive days. 

The evidence presented at the hearing indicates that Hamby maintained two 
residences during the time in question. Before she began a relationship with 
Pedery, she lived in Duncan with her son, and apparently maintained a residence 
there even after she began seeing Pedery.  For us to conclude that Hamby's only 
actual residence was with Pedery—arguably leading to the conclusion that she 
resided with Pedery for ninety or more days for purposes of section 20-3-130(B)— 
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McKinney would have needed to show that Hamby had completely relocated from 
her son's house in Duncan to Pedery's house.  McKinney presented no such 
evidence. Instead, according to Pedery's testimony, Hamby maintained enough 
possessions in Duncan such that she took only an overnight bag with her when she 
went from Pedery's house to her son's house in Duncan.   

During the time in question, Hamby lived at her son's house in Duncan 
approximately two days of every week, which means that under a literal 
interpretation of the statute, Pedery and Hamby could not have lived "under the 
same roof" for ninety consecutive days.  See Strickland, 375 S.C. at 89, 650 S.E.2d 
at 472. Like the court of appeals found in Semken, the statute's ninety-day 
requirement—as interpreted in Strickland—controls any claim that residence was 
established in a particular place.     

The court of appeals essentially proclaimed a new definition under the 
statute when it considered whether Pedery and Hamby "shared a home on a 
continuous and uninterrupted basis for substantially longer than ninety days."  See 
McKinney, 406 S.C. at 9, 749 S.E.2d at 123. This definition is not consistent with 
Strickland and the plain language of section 20-3-130(B).  Additionally, the court 
of appeals did not support its "holding" that Hamby's weekly departure from 
Pedery's house "was more akin to a temporary absence for out-of-town travel than 
it was to routine separation based on separate residences" with any authority, and 
this analysis does not further the inquiry required by the statutory test.  See id. at 8, 
749 S.E.2d at 123. Similarly, McKinney's interpretation of the statute would 
remove the word "consecutive" from the statute and would classify Hamby's time 
away from Pedery's house each week as analogous to work-related travel.  
However, neither McKinney's nor the court of appeals' interpretation is faithful to 
the language of the statute. 

If we were to uphold the court of appeals' analysis, our decision would 
render section 20-3-130(B) a nullity.3  The language of the statute is clear and 

3 We agree with the concurrence that the plain language of the statute makes it 
almost impossible for a family court to find continued cohabitation for purposes of 
section 20-3-130(B) and therefore terminate a supported spouse's alimony award.   
Regardless, the language of the statute is a choice made by the Legislature and 
creates a result to which we are confined, as the plain meaning of section 20-3-
130(B) cannot accord with the so-called "common sense application" of the statute. 
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unambiguous.  See Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000) 
("Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court's place to change the meaning of 
a clear and unambiguous statute. Where the statute's language is plain and 
unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory 
interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another 
meaning." (citations omitted)).  Therefore, because the ninety-day requirement 
under the plain language of the statute is not satisfied, we reverse the court of 
appeals' decision upholding the family court's termination of McKinney's alimony 
obligation. 

ii. Exception to Section 20-3-130(B) 

The family court may also find "that a continued cohabitation exists if there 
is evidence that the supported spouse resides with another person in a romantic 
relationship for periods of less than ninety days and the two periodically separate 
in order to circumvent the ninety-day requirement."  S.C. Code Ann. § 20-3-
130(B).4 

The family court found that Hamby's absences from Pedery's house were 
"being used deliberately and intentionally because there was never any removal of 
her property to the other location and she returned on a regular basis . . . ."  
Similarly, the family court stated that "any absence[] from [Pedery's house] is in 
the line of her job and do[es] not constitute a stop in her residence and that the use 
of this at trial is clearly to circumvent the statute."    

In contrast, we find that McKinney presented no evidence that Pedery and 
Hamby periodically stayed apart from each other before the litigation began5 to 
circumvent the ninety-day requirement of section 20-3-130(B).  According to 
Pedery's testimony, Hamby worked as a nanny for her grandchildren and lived with 

4 Because the court of appeals found that McKinney established that Hamby and 
Pedery continuously cohabitated for longer than ninety days, it did not reach this 
issue. See McKinney, 406 S.C. at 9, 749 S.E.2d at 123. 

5 Pedery acknowledged that after the litigation began, Hamby began staying at his 
house only on weekend nights.  
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her son in Duncan prior to her relationship with Pedery,6 indicating that Hamby's 
travel to Duncan was unrelated to the ninety-day requirement of section 20-3-
130(B). Therefore, we find that Pedery and Hamby's weekly separation as a result 
of her work in Duncan did not amount to a separation intended to circumvent the 
ninety-day requirement of section 20-3-130(B). 

b. Change in Circumstances - Two Issue Rule 

According to McKinney, the family court found that she suffered a 
substantial change in circumstances because of a decrease in her earnings and a 
decline in her health. Therefore, McKinney contends that because Pedery did not 
appeal the family court's finding on this issue, under the two issue rule, we should 
affirm the family court's termination of her alimony obligation because the change 
in circumstances is an additional sustaining ground for the family court's 
termination of alimony.  See Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 
(2010) ("Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one 
ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds 
because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case.").  We disagree. 

As the court of appeals recognized, the family court did not find that 
McKinney's changed circumstances supported its decision terminating alimony, 
and therefore, did not rule on this issue.  Instead, the family court merely made 
factual findings summarizing the testimony presented at the hearing regarding the 
economic downturn that affected McKinney's change in income and McKinney's 
health problems.   

We find that the testimony in the record concerning McKinney's changed 
income and health issues could support, at least, a reduction in McKinney's  

6 While the family court found that Pedery's testimony was not wholly credible, the 
family court based that finding on the fact that "he did not bring [Hamby] to the 
hearing to substantiate any of the allegations"—reasoning which we find 
unpersuasive.  Nevertheless, there was no testimony to refute Pedery's testimony 
on this point, and Greaves actually observed Hamby caring for children while she 
was in Duncan. 
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alimony obligation.  Therefore we remand the case for the family court to 
determine whether McKinney's alimony obligation should be reduced or 
terminated on the basis of a change in circumstances in her health and income. 

II. Attorney's Fees

 Finally, Pedery argues that if we reverse the court of appeals' decision, we 
should hold that the family court erred in failing to award Pedery attorney's fees.   

In considering whether to award attorney's fees, a family court should 
consider the following factors: (1) the party's ability to pay his or her own 
attorney's fee; (2) the beneficial results obtained by the attorney; (3) the parties' 
respective financial conditions; and (4) the effect of the attorney's fee on each 
party's standard of living.  E.D.M. v. T.A.M., 307 S.C. 471, 476–77, 415 S.E.2d 
812, 816 (1992) (citation omitted).  The family court's decision regarding 
attorney's fees and costs is a discretionary matter not to be overturned absent an 
abuse of discretion. Donahue v. Donahue, 299 S.C. 353, 365, 384 S.E.2d 741, 748 
(1989) (citations omitted).   

"Our case law and court rules make clear that when a contract or statute 
authorizes an award of attorney's fees, the trial court must make specific findings 
of fact on the record for each of the required factors to be considered."  Griffith v. 
Griffith, 332 S.C. 630, 646–47, 506 S.E.2d 526, 534–35 (Ct. App. 1998) (citing 
Rule 26(a), SCRFC; Blumberg v. Nealco, Inc., 310 S.C. 492, 427 S.E.2d 659 
(1993); Atkinson v. Atkinson, 279 S.C. 454, 309 S.E.2d 14 (Ct. App. 1983) (per 
curiam)). If, on appeal, there is inadequate evidentiary support for each of the 
factors supporting the family court's decision, the appellate court should reverse 
and remand so the trial court may make specific findings of fact.  Id. (citing 
Blumberg, 310 S.C. at 492, 427 S.E.2d at 659).  However, when a family court 
issues an order in violation of Rule 26(a), SCRFC, the appellate court "'may 
remand the matter to the trial court or, where the record is sufficient, make its own 
findings of fact in accordance with the preponderance of the evidence.'" Id. 
(quoting Holcombe v. Hardee, 304 S.C. 522, 524, 405 S.E.2d 821, 822 (1991)). 

Because we reverse and remand the court of appeals' decision on the first 
issue, we also remand the attorney's fees issue for the family court to make specific 
findings of fact upon its decision on McKinney's alimony obligation.  See Griffith, 
332 S.C. at 646–47, 506 S.E.2d at 534–35 (citations omitted). 
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CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, we reverse the court of appeals' decision and 
remand to the family court. 

REVERSED AND REMANDED. 

PLEICONES and BEATTY, JJ., concur.  HEARN, J., concurring in a 
separate opinion in which KITTREDGE, J., concurs. 
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JUSTICE HEARN: I concur in the result reached by the majority and in the 
reasoning to support it.  I write separately to express my disagreement with one 
statement in the majority opinion.  

I am cognizant of our rules of statutory construction and agree with the majority 
that we are confined to a plain-meaning of the statute.  However, I part company 
with the majority in its conclusion that, "If we were to uphold the court of appeals' 
analysis, our decision would render section 20-3-130(B) a nullity."  I find this 
criticism unwarranted, as I believe the opposite is true.  In my opinion, the family 
court and court of appeals' interpretation attempts to reconcile the language of the 
statute with the realities of our mobile society.  Few people live under the same 
roof for ninety consecutive days; indeed, I would venture to say that because of 
their work schedule, none of the members of this Court could be considered to 
have resided with his or her spouse for ninety consecutive days.  While I cannot 
say that our construction is absurd so as to allow this Court to ignore the plain 
language, I nevertheless recognize that the practical application of the statute 
distorts the intent of the General Assembly.  As the statute is written, it is virtually 
impossible to terminate any award of alimony as a result of the continued 
cohabitation of the supported spouse. Therefore, although I concur with the 
majority's analysis and ultimate conclusion, I disagree that the court of appeals' 
common-sense application of the statute would render it a nullity.   

KITTREDGE, J., concurs. 
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The Supreme Court of South Carolina 

Re: Amendments to South Carolina Appellate Court 
Rules 

Appellate Case No. 2015-001108 

ORDER 

The Chief Justice's Commission on the Profession has proposed several 
amendments to the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules to address issues with 
lawyers who are suffering from cognitive impairments.  The goal of these 
amendments is to clarify the duties and responsibilities of lawyers and judges who 
notice problems, provide compassionate assistance to lawyers in need, and protect 
the public. 

Pursuant to Article V, § 4 of the South Carolina Constitution, we adopt Rule 428, 
SCACR, and amend Rule 5.1, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR, and Canon 3, CJC, Rule 
501, SCACR, as set forth in the attachment to this Order.  These amendments are 
effective immediately. 

s/ Jean H. Toal C.J. 

s/ Costa M. Pleicones J. 

s/ Donald W. Beatty J. 

s/ John W. Kittredge J. 

s/ Kaye G. Hearn J. 

Columbia, South Carolina 
August 24, 2015 
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Rule 428, SCACR, is adopted and provides: 

RULE 428 
INTERVENTION TO PROTECT CLIENTS 

(a) The Executive Director of the South Carolina Bar, upon receipt of 
a written report or referral pursuant to Rule 5.1, RPC, Rule 407, 
SCACR; pursuant to Canon 3, CJC, Rule 501, SCACR; or from a 
member of the South Carolina Bar expressing concern about cognitive 
impairment of another lawyer shall take such actions as he or she 
deems advisable. Upon the Executive Director's recommendation, the 
President of the Bar may appoint one or more Attorneys to Intervene. 
The Attorneys to Intervene shall attempt to meet with the lawyer 
alleged to be impaired and, if in the best interest of both the lawyer 
and the public, propose a course of conduct to be followed. 

(b) The Attorneys to Intervene shall promptly report to the Executive 
Director whether any actions were recommended to the lawyer, 
whether the lawyer agreed to any recommendations, and whether 
further action is recommended. Further action may include action 
under Rule 28, RLDE, Rule 413, SCACR. In the event a referral to 
the Commission on Lawyer Conduct is recommended by the 
Attorneys to Intervene, that referral shall be made by them promptly. 

(c) The Attorneys to Intervene, the Executive Director of the South 
Carolina Bar, and the President of the Bar shall be immune from civil 
action for their actions taken in good faith under this rule. Information 
received by those Attorneys shall not be forwarded to the Office of 
Disciplinary Counsel in the event that a referral is not recommended 
under paragraph (b). 
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Rule 5.1(d), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR, and Comment 9 to the Rule are amended to 
provide: 

(d) Partners and lawyers with comparable managerial authority who 
reasonably believe that a lawyer in the law firm may be suffering from 
a significant impairment of that lawyer's cognitive function shall take 
action to address the concern with the lawyer and may seek assistance 
by reporting the circumstances of concern pursuant to Rule 428, 
SCACR. 

. . . 

[9] Paragraph (d) expresses a principle of responsibility to the clients 
of the law firm. Where partners or lawyers with comparable authority 
reasonably believe a lawyer is suffering from a significant cognitive 
impairment, they have a duty to protect the interests of clients and 
ensure that the representation does not harm clients or result in a 
violation of these rules. See Rule 1.16(a). One mechanism for 
addressing concerns before matters must be taken to the Commission 
on Lawyer Conduct is found in Rule 428, SCACR. See also Rule 
8.3(b) regarding the obligation to report a violation of the Rules of 
Professional Conduct when there is knowledge a violation has been 
committed as opposed to a belief that the lawyer may be suffering 
from an impairment of the lawyer's cognitive function. 
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Canon 3, CJC, Rule 501, SCACR, is amended to add section (G) and the following 
Commentary: 

G. Disability and Impairment. A judge having a reasonable belief 
that the performance of a lawyer or another judge is impaired by 
drugs or alcohol, or by a mental, emotional, or physical condition, 
shall take appropriate action, which may include a confidential 
referral to an appropriate lawyer or judicial assistance program. 

Commentary: 

Appropriate action means action intended and reasonably likely to 
help the judge or lawyer in question address the problem and prevent 
harm to the justice system. Depending upon the circumstances, 
appropriate action may include but is not limited to speaking directly 
to the impaired person, notifying an individual with supervisory 
responsibility over the impaired person, or making a referral to an 
assistance program, such as Lawyers Helping Lawyers or the South 
Carolina Bar in accordance with Rule 428, SCACR. 

Taking or initiating corrective action by way of referral to an 
assistance program may satisfy a judge's responsibility under this 
Rule. Assistance programs have many approaches for offering help to 
impaired judges and lawyers, such as intervention, counseling, or 
referral to appropriate health care professionals. Depending upon the 
gravity of the conduct that has come to the judge's attention, however, 
the judge may be required to take other action, such as reporting the 
impaired judge or lawyer to the appropriate disciplinary authority. See 
Canon 3(D)(1) and (2). 
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THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

In The Court of Appeals 


Jacklyn Donevant, Respondent, 

v. 

Town of Surfside Beach, Appellant. 

Appellate Case No. 2014-000457 

Appeal From Horry County 

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge 


Opinion No. 5345 

Heard June 1, 2015 – Filed August 26, 2015 


AFFIRMED 

Charles Franklin Thompson, Jr., of Malone Thompson 
Summers & Ott, LLC, of Columbia, for Appellant. 

Henrietta U. Golding and James Keith Gilliam, both of 
McNair Law Firm, PA, of Myrtle Beach, for Respondent. 

LOCKEMY, J.: In this wrongful termination action, the Town of Surfside Beach 
appeals the trial court's denial of its motion for a directed verdict.  The Town 
argues that by denying its motion for a directed verdict, the trial court erred in 
expanding the public policy exception to at-will employment beyond situations 
where the employer requires the employee to violate criminal law or the reason for 
the employee's termination itself is a violation of criminal law.  The Town further 
asserts the trial court's denial of its motion was error because the public policy 
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exception does not apply to terminations of government employees who insist on 
performing an act that is discretionary.  We affirm. 

FACTS 

This appeal arises from the employment termination of Jacklyn Donevant—the 
former building official and Director of Planning, Building, and Zoning for the 
Town. Donevant sued the Town for wrongful termination, alleging it fired her in 
violation of a clear mandate of public policy.  Specifically, Donevant asserted she 
was fired in retaliation for issuing a stop-work order1 to a restaurant that was 
performing construction with only a demolition permit and not a construction 
permit.  At trial, the Town claimed it terminated Donevant for attendance issues, 
punctuality issues, and insubordination.   

A. Donevant's Case 

In 2005, the Town hired Donevant as its building official.  In this capacity, 
Donevant served as the head of the building department and was the only Town 
employee who could approve building permits or issue stop-work orders.  In 
December 2010, the Town hired Jim Duckett as its town administrator.  During 
Duckett's tenure as administrator, there was an ongoing controversy with the 
vacancy of the Pier Restaurant—a restaurant located on a pier in Surfside Beach.  
The Town acquired ownership of the Pier Restaurant in 2008.  Shortly thereafter, a 
long-time tenant of the Pier Restaurant vacated the premises, leaving the space 
vacant and depriving the Town of expected revenue.  The Town had trouble 
finding a new tenant for the restaurant.  The vacancy of the Pier Restaurant became 
a prominent, public issue in the Town, with stories appearing in several newspaper 
articles. As administrator for the Town, Duckett worked to help find a new tenant 
for the restaurant. 

Donevant testified that throughout her employment with the Town, she regularly 
inspected construction sites on her way to and from work.  On June 17, 2011, 
Donevant conducted an inspection on her way to work.  She called a member of 
her staff to inform her that she was conducting an inspection and would be in the 
office after she finished. When Donevant arrived at work, Duckett stopped her 
before she could walk in her office. Duckett wrote the following sentence on a 

1 A stop-work order "is an order given by the building official to stop work, just 
completely shut the work down." 
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sheet of paper: "Since Jim Duckett has a poor memory[,] I will . . . in the future 
send him an email if I will not be in to work by [9:00] a.m. each workday."  
Duckett gave the paper to Donevant and made her write the sentence five times in 
front of the employees she supervised. 

In December 2011, Donevant was diagnosed with breast cancer and received 
twelve weeks of medical leave from work.  During her absence, the Town was 
forced to contract with the City of Myrtle Beach to perform Donevant's building 
official duties because no other Town employee was qualified to perform those 
duties. The City of Myrtle Beach assumed the responsibility of reviewing plans, 
issuing permits, conducting inspections, and issuing stop-work orders within the 
Town's jurisdiction.   

While Donevant was on leave, Duckett found a new tenant to occupy the vacant 
Pier Restaurant space.  The new tenant wanted to remodel the interior of the space.  
Because Donevant was on leave, the City of Myrtle Beach issued a demolition 
permit to the tenant that allowed for "demo interior of building only."  This 
demolition permit was the only permit issued to the Pier Restaurant during 
Donevant's sick leave; however, the tenant had applied for a construction permit 
that was pending under "plan review." While Donevant was on leave, Duckett 
visited the restaurant frequently and remained in contact with the City of Myrtle 
Beach about the construction plans.  

On March 13, 2012, Donevant returned from sick leave.  Before allowing her to 
resume her duties as building official, Duckett required Donevant to meet with him 
and requested that Debra Hermann, the Town clerk, witness the meeting.  During 
the meeting, Duckett informed Donevant she would resume all of her job duties, 
but he warned her if she "change[d] anything that was done . . . in [her] absence," 
he would fire her. Duckett testified the reason for this instruction was to prevent 
Donevant from revisiting any decisions made by the City of Myrtle Beach during 
her absence. Hermann prepared a memorandum after the meeting that stated: 

Duckett explained that [Donevant] was now officially 
returned to work; however, he gave her a direct order that 
she could not and would not change, ameliorate, or in 
any other manner amend any action that was taken during 
her absence. That if she did so, she would be fired. 
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On March 19, 2012, Duckett instructed Micki Fellner, the Town's deputy 
administrator, to inform Donevant that she could no longer report to Fellner and 
was required to report directly to Duckett.  Duckett had previously informed all 
employees, including Donevant, that Fellner "was in charge when [Duckett] wasn't 
there" and Fellner "had the same authority [Duckett] had when [Duckett] was 
there." 

Donevant testified that shortly after returning to work from her sick leave, she 
discovered by reading a local newspaper article that new construction was 
underway at the Pier Restaurant. Upon reading the article, Donevant contacted the 
City of Myrtle Beach and learned no construction permit had been issued.  
Thereafter, Donevant drove to the Pier Restaurant to inspect the premises.  She 
testified new construction had started at the restaurant.  According to Donevant, 
the contractors had cut openings for doors and windows; studded a new wall; and 
installed plumbing, electrical, and subflooring.  In Donevant's opinion, this work 
constituted "construction" and therefore required a construction permit before it 
could be lawfully performed.  Donevant testified that allowing unpermitted 
construction to continue within the Town's jurisdiction posed a significant safety 
risk to the public. She stated: 

[I]t was unsafe and it was dangerous.  They had openings 
that anybody could step in and fall. There was loose 
wires and plumbing.  There was stuff that had [not] been 
inspected, how do you know whether it [was] safe or not.  
We have to protect the public. The pier is a busy place. 
A lot of kids go [out] there . . . . 

Donevant issued a stop-work order to halt construction at the Pier Restaurant and 
taped the stop-work order to the door. After issuing the stop-work order, Donevant 
called Fellner on her way back to the office.  Donevant testified she called Fellner 
to discuss an unrelated matter and was not "reporting" to Fellner that she had 
issued a stop-work order. During the conversation, however, Donevant told 
Fellner about the stop-work order for the unpermitted construction at the Pier 
Restaurant. 

The next day Duckett called Donevant into his office for a meeting.  During the 
meeting, Duckett told Donevant he could not believe she stopped work at the Pier 
Restaurant after all the work he had done on the project.  Duckett turned his 
attention to three pieces of paper lying face-down on his desk.  Duckett turned over 

36 




 

 

 

 

 

 

the first piece of paper, which was a written reprimand, stating Donevant had 
disobeyed his order to report all matters to him and not Fellner.  Donevant refused 
to sign the reprimand, claiming it was untrue because she had not "reported" the 
stop-work order to Fellner. Donevant further stated Duckett never told her she was 
required to report the fact that she issued a stop-work order.  After Donevant 
refused to sign the reprimand, Duckett turned over the second piece of paper, 
which was an order of suspension.  Donevant testified that although she disagreed 
with the suspension, she signed the document and served a three-day suspension 
because she "needed to work" and suspected the third document on Duckett's desk 
was a termination notice. According to Donevant, Duckett suspended her "for 
putting a stop-work order, for doing [her] job."    

Donevant returned to work following her suspension on March 25, 2012, and on 
that date, she delivered a letter to Duckett that stated: 

My suspension was not right. All I did was follow the 
law, which you did [not] want me to follow.  Like I told 
you the other day, I will follow the law even if that 
means not following your instructions. You have been 
picking on me and treating me badly for a long time even 
though I do my work by the book and I am dedicated to 
the [T]own. 

On April 4, 2012, Duckett terminated Donevant.  Donevant testified Duckett did 
not provide her with a reason for her termination.  Duckett later informed the South 
Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce that her termination was due 
to "operational changes." Donevant asserted Duckett fired her in retaliation for 
issuing the stop-work order for unpermitted construction at the Pier Restaurant.  

At trial, Donevant claimed she was required by law to issue the stop-work order at 
the Pier Restaurant. She presented the testimony of Gary Wiggins, a former 
director of the South Carolina Building Codes Council.  Wiggins testified that 
Chapter One of the International Building Code (IBC), which the Town had 
adopted by ordinance, sets forth a building official's authority to issue stop-work 
orders. He explained "any time there is a potential of life safety or fire safety or 
there [is] a direct violation of the law, the building official is obligated to issue a 
stop-work order." If construction is commenced without a construction permit, 
"[t]hat's a violation of the law. . . . [a]nd anytime there's a violation of the law, a 
stop-work order must be issued."  According to Wiggins, a town administrator 
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does not have the authority to issue stop-work orders.  The building official "is 
charged with that responsibility specifically and no other person . . . can perform 
that function or task."  Wiggins stated that "starting work in any capacity is a 
violation of the law unless a permit is issued for it."  He testified that if a building 
official neglected to issue a stop-work order when construction is ongoing with 
only a demolition permit, she could be disciplined by the South Carolina Building 
Codes Council, with discipline ranging from a letter of caution to a revocation of 
her license as a building official. 

B. The Town's Case 

Duckett testified he was Donevant's immediate superior, and she was required to 
report directly to him.  He stated that as town administrator, he was not involved in 
permitting or building inspection decisions.  Duckett described Donevant as a 
"problem employee."  He testified Donevant was frequently absent from, or late to, 
work and "[a] lot of times [her] staff didn't know where she was or when she would 
be back." Duckett eventually required Donevant to be at work by 9:00 a.m. or to 
let him know "if she was going to be out for any reason."  According to Duckett, 
Donevant continued to miss work and he attempted to bring her attendance under 
control by issuing warnings, giving her a negative performance review, and 
requiring her to tell him when she was not going to be in the office during normal 
operating hours. 

On her first day back to work following her sick leave, Duckett stated he informed 
Donevant she was not to interfere with any decisions made by the City of Myrtle 
Beach during her absence. Specifically, he told her "whatever had been approved 
by Myrtle Beach was done, and that she needed to focus her attention when she 
came back on new things that were coming in."  He informed her of this in writing 
and warned that termination might result if she interfered with any decisions made 
during her leave. Duckett also reminded Donevant that she was to report to him 
and not to Fellner. Duckett felt Donevant had been avoiding him—preferring to 
report to Fellner. Fellner testified she also told Donevant to report to Duckett and 
not to her. 

Duckett stated he first learned of the stop-work order at the Pier Restaurant when a 
member of the town council called him asking what was going on there.  About the 
same time, Fellner called Duckett to report her conversation with Donevant about 
the stop-work order. Duckett immediately went to the pier and, to his surprise, was 
greeted by a television crew and members of council.  Duckett testified Donevant 
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had exercised poor judgment by not telling him what was going on at the pier and 
not reporting to him as instructed.  He stated that "if [he] had simply been told 
whenever [the stop-work order] was issued . . . that would have been fine."  
According to Duckett, he ultimately suspended Donevant for three days "due to her 
inability to follow directions." 

Duckett testified that several weeks after Donevant returned from her suspension, a 
town election was held and a new mayor was elected.  Duckett stated he did not 
want to continue in his position with the changes and decided he would resign.  He 
also decided he did not think it was right to pass a "problem employee" to the next 
administrator, and he therefore decided to terminate Donevant.  

C. Directed Verdict/JNOV 

The Town moved for a directed verdict, asserting that even if Donevant was fired 
for issuing the stop-work order at the Pier Restaurant, it would not constitute a 
discharge in violation of public policy because that cause of action "has not been 
expanded beyond situations in which the employer requires the employee to violate 
a criminal law or where the reason for the employee's termination is itself a 
violation of criminal law . . . ."  The Town also argued a directed verdict should be 
granted because under Antley v. Shepherd,2 a government employee fired for 
exercising discretionary authority cannot assert a claim for public policy discharge.  
On the other hand, Donevant argued Antley was inapplicable because she was 
required by law—specifically, the building code as adopted by the Town—to issue 
a stop-work order when she saw unpermitted construction ongoing at the Pier 
Restaurant. 

After taking the matter under advisement, the trial court denied the Town's motion 
for directed verdict and later denied the Town's motion for judgment 
notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV).  The trial court concluded that whether 
Duckett instructed Donevant not to issue a stop-work order at the Pier Restaurant 
was a question of fact for the jury.  The trial court determined there was evidence 
Donevant was fired in retaliation for issuing the stop-work order at the Pier 
Restaurant and that such a discharge fell within the public policy exception to at-
will employment.   

2 340 S.C. 541, 532 S.E.2d 294 (Ct. App. 2000), aff'd as modified by 349 S.C. 600, 
564 S.E.2d 116 (2002). 
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In the directed verdict stage, the trial court stated it was not expanding the public 
policy exception to at-will employment and that Donevant's claim "comes clearly 
within what our courts have already articulated what the law is"—that "she was 
required by her employer to violate the law."  In the JNOV stage, however, the 
court explained there was evidence 

[Donevant] was instructed not to issue anything . . . that 
would interfere with what was going on at the pier, which 
dealt with her responsibilities as a building official.  In 
her estimation, being told not to enforce the building 
code was instructing her to act contrary to public policy, 
and in addition to that, there is another layer to that 
which is [Duckett is] basically telling [her] to disregard 
the law, which the [T]own adopted in the nature of these 
International Building Codes, and to not do [her] job and 
not enforce the law, which is arguably a violation of 
public policy and [a] violation of the law. 

Donevant's claim for retaliatory discharge went to the jury with the only issue tried 
being whether the Town fired Donevant in violation of public policy because she 
issued a stop-work order on a construction project at the Pier Restaurant.  The jury 
returned a verdict in favor of Donevant in the amount of $500,000, which was later 
reduced to $300,000 pursuant to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act.  This appeal 
followed. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"The appellate court will reverse the trial court's ruling on a directed verdict 
motion only when there is no evidence to support the ruling or where the ruling is 
controlled by an error of law." Jones v. Lott, 379 S.C. 285, 288-89, 665 S.E.2d 
642, 644 (Ct. App. 2008), aff'd by 387 S.C. 339, 692 S.E.2d 900 (2010).  "In ruling 
on a motion for directed verdict, the trial court must view the evidence and the 
inferences which reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to 
the party opposing the motion."  Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, L.L.C., 368 S.C. 
444, 463, 629 S.E.2d 653, 663 (2006).  "The trial court must deny the motion when 
either the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt."  Id. 
"When considering directed verdict motions, neither the trial court nor the 
appellate court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in 
the testimony or evidence."  Id.  "The appellate court must determine whether a 

40 




 

   

 

 

verdict for a party opposing the motion would be reasonably possible under the 
facts as liberally construed in his favor."  Id.  "If the evidence is susceptible to 
more than one reasonable inference, the case should be submitted to the jury."  Id. 

LAW/ANALYSIS  

I. Expansion of Public Policy Exception 

The Town first argues that by denying its motion for a directed verdict, the trial 
court erred in expanding the public policy exception to at-will employment beyond 
situations where the employer (1) requires the employee to violate criminal law or 
(2) the reason for the employee's termination itself is a violation of criminal law.  
The Town asserts that although the public policy exception has not been expressly 
limited to these two situations, it has not been "applied beyond them."  According 
to the Town, Donevant's claim that she was fired for issuing a stop-work order at 
the Pier Restaurant does not fall under the public policy exception as applied by 
our courts because the building code merely "authorizes" Donevant, as building 
official, to issue stop-work orders but does not subject her to criminal punishment 
for failing to do so. We disagree. 

"In South Carolina, an at-will employee may be terminated for any reason or no 
reason at all." McNeil v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 404 S.C. 186, 195, 743 S.E.2d 843, 
848 (Ct. App. 2013) (Lockemy, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part).  
"Under the public policy exception to the at-will employment doctrine, however, 
an at-will employee has a cause of action in tort for wrongful termination where 
there is a retaliatory termination of the at-will employee in violation of a clear 
mandate of public policy." Barron v. Labor Finders of S.C., 393 S.C. 609, 614, 
713 S.E.2d 634, 636-37 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted).  "The public 
policy exception clearly applies in cases where either: (1) the employer requires 
the employee to violate the law . . . or (2) the reason for the employee's termination 
itself is a violation of criminal law."  Id. at 614, 713 S.E.2d at 637 (citation 
omitted).  "While the public policy exception applies to situations where an 
employer requires an employee to violate the law or the reason for the termination 
itself is a violation of criminal law, the public policy exception is not limited to 
these situations." Id.  Thus, "an at-will employee may have a cause of action for 
wrongful termination even if the discharge itself did not violate criminal law or the 
employer did not require the employee to violate the law."  Id. at 614-15, 713 
S.E.2d at 637. The public policy exception, however, "has not yet been extended 
beyond [these two situations]."  McNeil, 404 S.C. at 192, 743 S.E.2d at 846; see 
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also Taghivand v. Rite Aid Corp., 411 S.C. 240, 243, 768 S.E.2d 385, 387 (2015) 
("While we have made clear that the exception is not limited to these situations, we 
have specifically recognized no others." (internal quotation marks omitted)).    

The trial court did not err in denying the Town's directed verdict motion on this 
ground. Initially, we find it helpful to identify the scope of the Town's appeal.  In 
her complaint, Donevant alleged the Town fired her in retaliation for issuing a 
stop-work order at the Pier Restaurant.  The jury awarded Donevant damages 
based on her complaint.  At oral argument, the Town conceded that the reason 
Donevant was fired is not an issue on appeal.  Consequently, the Town's arguments 
are all questions of law. It first asserts Donevant's claim for discharge in violation 
of public policy fails as a matter of law because she was not subject to criminal 
punishment for not issuing a stop-work order.  We do not believe the public policy 
exception to at-will employment requires a criminal punishment.  The plain 
language of our supreme court's decision in Barron states an action for retaliatory 
discharge applies when "the employer requires the employee to violate the law . . . 
." 393 S.C. at 614, 713 S.E.2d at 637 (emphasis added).  Nothing in Barron or 
later decisions by our supreme court hold the employer must require the employee 
to violate a criminal law in order for the public policy exception to apply.  See id; 
Taghivand, 411 S.C. at 243, 768 S.E.2d at 387 (stating the public policy exception 
to at-will employment applies when "an employer requires an employee, as a 
condition of continued employment, to break the law" (emphasis added)). Thus, 
even if Donevant violated a law that only carried a civil penalty, it would not be 
fatal to her claim for retaliatory discharge.       

Next, the Town asserts the trial court erred in not granting a directed verdict 
because the public policy exception has not been applied beyond situations where 
(1) the employer requires the employee to violate criminal law or (2) the reason for 
the employee's termination itself is a violation of criminal law.  The Town's 
argument fails because Barron holds the public policy exception is not limited to 
these two situations. See 393 S.C. at 614, 713 S.E.2d at 637. In Barron, our 
supreme court specifically overruled our court to the extent we limited the public 
policy exception to these two situations. See id. at 615-16, 713 S.E.2d at 637 ("We 
find the court erred, however, in holding the exception is limited to these situations 
where our courts have explicitly held the public policy exception is not so limited.  
Accordingly, we overrule the Court of Appeals' opinion to the extent it holds the 
public policy exception applies only in situations where the employer asks the 
employee to violate the law or the reason for the termination itself is a violation of 
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criminal law." (citations omitted)).  Although the public policy exception has not 
been applied outside the two situations described above, if we were to reverse the 
jury's verdict on this ground, we would effectively be limiting the public policy 
exception to these two situations in direct contravention of our supreme court's 
holding in Barron. Moreover, as discussed below, Donevant's claim falls within 
the public policy exception to at-will employment as applied in this state because 
Duckett fired her for refusing to violate the law.  Therefore, the trial court did not 
err in denying the Town's motion for a directed verdict on this ground.            

II. Antley v. Shepherd 

The Town next argues that by denying its motion for a directed verdict, the trial 
court disregarded the rule from Antley v. Shepherd that the public policy exception 
"does not apply to terminations of employees who insist on performing an act that 
is discretionary, i.e., that the law does not require them to perform."  We disagree. 

In Antley, a county tax assessor refused to comply with a county administrator's 
order not to initiate an appeal from a decision by the board of assessment appeals.  
340 S.C. at 545-46, 532 S.E.2d at 296. When the tax assessor refused to dismiss a 
pending appeal, the county administrator fired the tax assessor for not following 
his order. Id. at 546, 532 S.E.2d at 296. The tax assessor filed a claim for 
wrongful termination against the county, alleging she, as tax assessor, maintained 
the statutory right to file appeals from decisions by the board of assessment 
appeals, and the directive that she not file any appeals from board decisions placed 
her "in a position of being required to disobey the law" as a condition of her 
employment.  Id. She asserted this requirement constituted a public policy tort and 
her termination for refusing to follow the directive was unlawful.  Id.  In support of 
her argument that she had a right to file appeals, the tax assessor relied on sections 
12-37-90 and 12-60-2540 of the South Carolina Code (2014).  Id. at 549, 532 
S.E.2d at 298. Subsection 12-37-90(f) states the tax assessor "is responsible for the 
operations of his office and shall . . . have the right of appeal from a disapproval of 
or modification of an appraisal made by him."  Subsection 12-60-2540(A) provides 
that within thirty days of a decision by the board of assessment appeals, "a property 
taxpayer or county assessor may appeal a property tax assessment." 

The county moved for summary judgment, claiming Antley was an at-will 
employee fired for cause.  Antley, 340 S.C. at 546, 532 S.E.2d at 296.  The trial 
court granted summary judgment to the county, finding that because the statutes 
permitted, rather than required, Antley to file appeals, the administrator's directive 

43 




 

 

 

did not require her to violate the law. Id. Our court affirmed the trial court.  Id. at 
549, 532 S.E.2d at 298. We stated: 

[S]ections 12-37-90 and 12-60-2540 gave Antley, as 
county tax assessor, the right to file appeals to the ALJD 
and established her status as a real party in interest in 
such appeals. These sections thus permitted, but did not 
require, Antley to appeal adverse board decisions. 
Moreover, nothing in sections 12-37-90 or 12-60-2540 
gave Antley the sole discretion in determining which 
cases to appeal.  If the General Assembly had intended 
the assessor's right of appeal to be unfettered by the 
county administrator or county council, it certainly could 
have provided that the decision of whether or not to 
appeal a board's determination is solely that of the 
assessor. 

Id. 

We read Antley's holding that summary judgment was proper on the tax assessor's 
claim for retaliatory discharge in violation of public policy as based on three 
grounds: (1) Antley had the statutory right to file appeals, but was not required to 
do so; (2) the statutes she relied on for her authority did not give her the sole 
discretion to determine which cases to appeal; and (3) the General Assembly had 
not provided that the assessor's right of appeal was unfettered; therefore, nothing 
prevented the county from adopting a policy that defined the cases to be appealed.  
Our review of these grounds indicates Antley is distinguishable from this case.   

We first address whether Donevant had sole discretion to decide whether to issue a 
stop-work order for violations of the building code. Unlike Antley where the tax 
assessor or "a property taxpayer" could appeal a property tax assessment, Donevant 
claims "[t]he building code does not grant any other individual any discretion or 
any right to make the determination of whether to issue a stop work order."  The 
Town argues "the scope of her authority is a legal question . . . for the court to 
decide"; however, it does not cite any authority that gives another party authority 
to issue a stop-work order. Based on our review of the building code, the building 
official is the only party authorized to issue a stop-work order for code violations.  
Thus, Donevant had sole discretion to determine whether to issue a stop-work 
order. 
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We next address whether Donevant was required by law to issue a stop-work 
order. The Town points out Donevant's authority came from a building code 
provision that states "[w]henever the building official finds any work regulated by 
this code being performed in a manner either contrary to the provisions of this code 
or dangerous or unsafe, the building official is authorized to issue a stop work 
order." (emphasis added).  Similar to Antley's "right" of appeal, at first glance it 
appears Donevant was permitted but not required to issue a stop-work order for 
building code violations.  After considering other statutory and building code 
provisions in light of the facts in this case, we believe that unlike the tax assessor 
in Antley, the law required Donevant to take action to enforce compliance with the 
building code when she saw unpermitted construction at the Pier Restaurant.   

Subsection 6-9-10(A) of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2014) states: 

All municipalities . . . and counties in this State shall 
enforce . . . building codes in this chapter, relating to the 
construction, livability, sanitation, erection, energy 
efficiency, installation of equipment, alteration, repair, 
occupancy, classification, or removal of structures 
located within their jurisdictions and promulgate 
regulations to implement their enforcement. 

(emphasis added).   

Section 6-9-30 of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2014) requires all municipalities 
and counties to appoint a building official or contract for a building official within 
the municipal limits.  Pursuant to subsection 6-9-50(A) of the South Carolina Code 
(Supp. 2014), the International Building Code (IBC), with the exception of Chapter 
One, is adopted in every municipality or county in the State.  The Town adopted 
Chapter One of the IBC by passing an ordinance.  Thus, Chapter One of the IBC, 
which provides for certain duties and responsibilities for the building official, 
applies within the Town's jurisdiction.   

Under Chapter One of the IBC, "[t]he building official is hereby authorized and 
directed to enforce the provisions of this code."  Int'l Bldg. Code § 104.1 (2012).  
"The building official shall . . . issue permits for the erection, and alteration, 
demolition and moving of buildings and structures, inspect the premises for which 
such permits have been issued and enforce compliance with the provisions of the 
code." Int'l Bldg. Code § 104.2 (2012).  "The building official shall issue all 
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necessary notices or orders to ensure compliance with this code."  Int'l Bldg. Code 
§ 104.3 (2012). Section 105.1 of the IBC (2012) provides: 

Any owner or authorized agent who intends to construct, 
enlarge, alter, repair, move, demolish, or change the 
occupancy of a building or structure, or to erect, install, 
enlarge, alter, repair, remove, convert or replace any 
electrical, gas, mechanical or plumbing system, the 
installation of which is regulated by this code, or to cause 
any such work to be done, shall first make application to 
the building official and obtain the required permit. 

In addition, it is unlawful "for any person, firm or corporation to erect, construct, 
alter, extend, repair, move, remove, demolish or occupy any building, structure or 
equipment regulated by this code, or cause same to be done, in conflict with or in 
violation of any of the provisions of this code." Int'l Bldg. Code § 113.1 (2012).    

First, it is undisputed the contractors at the Pier Restaurant had not obtained a 
construction permit when Donevant issued the stop-work order.  The contractors 
only had a demolition permit that allowed for "demo interior of building only."  
See § 105.1 ("Any owner or authorized agent who intends to construct . . . shall 
first make application to the building official and obtain the required permit." 
(emphasis added)).  Furthermore, Donevant testified the contractors had started 
construction by cutting openings for doors and windows; studding a new wall; and 
installing plumbing, electrical, and subflooring.  Because the contractors had 
started construction without the required permit, the construction was unlawful 
under the building code. See § 113.1. 

Because the construction at the Pier Restaurant violated the building code, the law 
required Donevant, as building official, to take action to enforce compliance with 
the code. See § 104.2 (stating "[t]he building official shall . . . issue permits for the 
erection, and alteration, demolition and moving of buildings and structures, inspect 
the premises for which such permits have been issued and enforce compliance with 
the provisions of the code" (emphasis added)). In order to carry out her legal duty 
to "enforce compliance" with the building code, Donevant issued a stop-work order 
as she was required to do by law. See § 104.3 (stating "[t]he building official shall 
issue all necessary notices or orders to ensure compliance with this code").  Thus, 
unlike Antley, where the statutes "permitted but did not require" the tax assessor to 
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take action, the statutory and building code provisions at issue here required 
Donevant's actions of enforcing compliance with the building code.     

We agree with the trial court that Donevant's claim "comes clearly within what our 
courts have already articulated what the law is"—that "she was required by her 
employer to violate the law."  By instructing Donevant not to "change, ameliorate, 
or in any other manner amend any action that was taken during her absence[,]" 
Duckett was requiring Donevant not to perform her legal duty as a building official 
to enforce compliance with the building code.  If Donevant had followed Duckett's 
directive and not taken action in response to the unlawful construction at the Pier 
Restaurant, she could have been charged with misconduct in office for failing to 
discharge this legal duty. See State v. Hess, 279 S.C. 14, 20, 301 S.E.2d 547, 550 
(1983) (recognizing "[m]isconduct in office occurs when duties imposed by law 
have not been properly and faithfully discharged" (emphasis added)).  By 
suspending Donevant and ultimately terminating her for issuing the stop-work 
order at the Pier Restaurant, Duckett effectively discharged Donevant for refusing 
to violate the law. Accordingly, Donevant's claim for retaliatory discharge falls 
within a recognized exception to the doctrine of at-will employment in this state 
because she was required by her employer, "as a condition of continued 
employment, to break the law."  Taghivand, 411 S.C. at 243, 768 S.E.2d at 387; 
see also Barron, 393 S.C. at 614, 713 S.E.2d at 637. 

Notwithstanding the fact that Donevant was fired for refusing to violate the law, 
she also presented a cognizable claim that she was terminated "in violation of a 
clear mandate of public policy." Barron, 393 S.C. at 614, 713 S.E.2d at 637 
(stating "[a]n at-will employee has a cause of action in tort for wrongful 
termination where there is a retaliatory termination of the at-will employee in 
violation of a clear mandate of public policy" (internal quotation marks omitted)).  

In Barron, our supreme court explained that "[w]hile the public policy exception 
applies to situations where an employer requires an employee to violate the law or 
the reason for the termination itself is a violation of criminal law, the public policy 
exception is not limited to these situations." Id. The court stated: 

The determination of what constitutes public policy is a 
question of law for the courts to decide. See Citizens' 
Bank v. Heyward, 135 S.C. 190, 133 S.E. 709, 713 
(1925) ("The primary source of the declaration of public 
policy of the state is the General Assembly; the courts 
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assume this prerogative only in the absence of legislative 
declaration.").  It is not a function of the jury to 
determine questions of law such as what constitutes 
public policy.  Rather, once a public policy is established, 
the jury would determine the factual question whether the 
employee's termination was in violation of that public 
policy. 

Id. at 617, 713 S.E.2d at 638. 

Thus, the Barron court recognized there could be situations where an employee 
was terminated in violation of public policy even if she was not required by her 
employer to violate the law or the reason for her termination was not a violation of 
criminal law.  As our supreme court explained in Taghivand, "any exception to [the 
doctrine of at-will employment,] which is itself firmly rooted in the public policy 
of this state, should emanate from the General Assembly, and from this Court only 
when the legislature has not spoken." 411 S.C. at 248, 768 S.E.2d at 389.  The 
determination of what constitutes public policy for purposes of the public policy 
exception to at-will employment is a question of law for the court.  See Barron, 
393 S.C. at 617, 713 S.E.2d at 638.  We defer to the General Assembly in making 
this determination and find the public policy exception applicable in this case.     

Subsection 6-9-5(A) of the South Carolina Code (Supp. 2014) entitled, "Public 
policy for building codes," states: 

The public policy of South Carolina is to maintain 
reasonable standards of construction in buildings and 
other structures in the State consistent with the public 
health, safety, and welfare of its citizens.  To secure these 
purposes, a person performing building code enforcement 
must be certified by the South Carolina Building Codes 
Council, and this act is necessary to provide for 
certification. 

To implement the policy of maintaining reasonable construction standards, the 
General Assembly has declared "[a]ll municipalities . . . and counties in this State 
shall enforce . . . building codes in this chapter, relating to the construction, 
livability, sanitation, erection, energy efficiency, installation of equipment, 
alteration, repair, occupancy, classification, or removal of structures located within 
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their jurisdictions and promulgate regulations to implement their enforcement."  
S.C. Code Ann. § 6-9-10. 

We believe the General Assembly's use of the words "[t]he public policy of South 
Carolina" and its mandate that all municipalities enforce the building code 
indicates a legislative intent to make enforcement of the building code a public 
policy of this state. It is difficult to imagine a more clear declaration of public 
policy than language stating "[t]he public policy of South Carolina is . . . ." 
(emphasis added).  We cannot ignore the significance of such clear language in a 
statute. Here, Donevant was enforcing the building code and therefore enforcing a 
clear mandate of public policy when she issued the stop-work order for 
unpermitted construction at the Pier Restaurant.  Duckett initially suspended her 
and ultimately terminated her for taking this action.  The Town has not appealed 
the reason for Donevant's firing.  Thus, Donevant presented a cognizable claim that 
she was fired in violation of a clear mandate of public policy.         

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, the trial court did not err in denying the Town's motion for 
a directed verdict.  Therefore, the trial court is 

AFFIRMED. 

SHORT and MCDONALD, JJ., concur. 
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AFFIRMED 

Appellate Defender Robert M. Pachak, of Columbia, for 
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Assistant Attorney General W. Edgar Salter, III, all of 
Columbia; and Solicitor David Michael Pascoe, Jr., of 
Orangeburg, for Respondent. 

HUFF, J.:  Lamont Antonio Samuel appeals his conviction for murder, arguing the 
trial judge erred in refusing to allow him to represent himself.  We affirm. 
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FACTUAL/PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Samuel, who was indicted for the murder of Taneris Hamilton, was provided 
appointed counsel. Prior to trial, Samuel moved to represent himself.  The trial 
judge conducted a hearing to consider the motion.  Samuel explained he wanted to 
represent himself because he had been in jail for fourteen months despite 
maintaining his innocence. He complained his appointed counsel would not let 
him contact the solicitor on the case and bring the solicitor a letter Samuel's co-
defendant had written in which the co-defendant confessed.  Samuel asserted he 
understood he was charged with murder and the maximum sentence the charge 
carries. He stated he was twenty-one years old and graduated from high school in 
2010 with a 4.0 in honors classes. He claimed he was enlisted and waiting to go 
into the Navy. He declared while he was waiting, he worked with the recruiting 
office at Fort Jackson.   

Samuel testified he had been reading a book entitled Criminal Law Handbook, 
which his mother helped him obtain at the recommendation of attorney Carl Grant.  
He also claimed Grant had coached him on the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.  
Samuel acknowledged Grant was not representing him but maintained the attorney 
was going to coach him. He explained: 

[M]y mama, basically paid Mr. Grant a good bit amount 
of money.  The reason why he couldn't represent me is 
because my family--I guess his paralegal is related, you 
know, in some manner. So he had decided to just go 
over the steps with me day by day.  I go through the trial, 
I got back to him.  I talk to him, he'll tell me things or he 
won't -- he's not going to be in the courtroom, present.   

After completing the Faretta1 colloquy, the trial judge noted Samuel was bright, 
educated, and did not have drug, alcohol, or mental health problems.  She 
acknowledged to Samuel: "You don't have a problem that I'm aware of that I can 
use, in all candor, to keep you from representing yourself."  The judge then 
summoned Grant to come to the courtroom to explain his relationship with Samuel.   

1 Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). 
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Grant testified he had not been retained to represent Samuel.  He explained the 
only discussion he had with Samuel's mother pertained to the legal fees to 
represent Samuel but the mother never brought him the fees.  He maintained he 
had not given Samuel a copy of the rules of evidence or of criminal procedure or 
offered his assistance in any way. He stated: "Either you're going to retain me to 
represent you or you're not."  He informed the judge he would not be available to 
provide Samuel with any assistance in any capacity if Samuel represented himself. 

Samuel thanked Grant "for your information you provided me.  I thank you for 
your advice and everything . . . ."  When the judge asked him what advice and 
information he meant, Samuel responded: "Everything he said."  The judge further 
questioned Samuel if he meant what was said that day.  Samuel stated: "I'm just 
saying in general. Everything he said makes a whole lot of sense."  Samuel 
acknowledged he understood the extent of Grant's relationship and he could not 
depend on Grant's assistance.  However, after Grant left the courtroom, Samuel 
claimed the reason Grant testified as he did was because of the kinship between 
Grant's paralegal and Samuel and Grant's "reputation was on the line."  Samuel 
explained the reason his expression did not change during Grant's testimony was 
"because he already had told me and stated if it came down to him coming in front 
of a judge in front of the attorneys he was going to state that."   

After taking a brief recess, the trial judge informed Samuel she did not believe 
what Samuel had told her concerning his relationship with Grant and Grant's 
willingness to coach him.  She ruled: "The reason that I am disallowing your self-
representation is because it is impossible for me to [try] a case if I do not have 
candor from those who are making representations to the court."  Even after the 
judge made the ruling, Samuel continued to claim Grant said what he did because 
"he did not want his reputation ruined." 

After delays unrelated to Samuel's request for self-representation, the case 
proceeded to trial with appointed counsel representing Samuel.  The jury found 
Samuel guilty of murder.  The trial judge sentenced him to fifty years 
imprisonment.  This appeal followed. 

ISSUE 

Did the trial judge err by refusing to allow Samuel to represent himself? 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"The question of whether court appointed counsel should be discharged is a matter 
addressed to the discretion of the trial judge.  Only in a case of abuse of discretion 
will this [c]ourt interfere."  State v. Sims, 304 S.C. 409, 414, 405 S.E.2d 377, 380 
(1991); see State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 48, 753 S.E.2d 545, 556 (2014) (Toal, 
C.J., dissenting) (applying abuse of discretion standard to review of denial of 
motion for self-representation).  An abuse of discretion occurs when the decision 
of the trial judge is based upon an error of law or upon factual findings that are 
without evidentiary support. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 
265 (2006). 

LAW/ANALYSIS 

Samuel argues the trial judge erred in refusing to allow him to represent himself.  
We disagree. 

A defendant has a constitutional right to self-representation under the Sixth and 
Fourteenth Amendments.  Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 807 (1975). 
However, the right of self-representation is not absolute.  United States v. Frazier-
El, 204 F.3d 553, 559 (4th Cir. 2000). The Supreme Court in Faretta noted "the 
trial judge may terminate self-representation by a defendant who deliberately 
engages in serious and obstructionist misconduct."  Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834 n.46. 
It explained: "The right of self-representation is not a license to abuse the dignity 
of the courtroom.  Neither is it a license not to comply with relevant rules of 
procedural and substantive law."  Id.  "Even at the trial level . . . the government's 
interest in ensuring the integrity and efficiency of the trial at times outweighs the 
defendant's interest in acting as his own lawyer."  Martinez v. Court of Appeal of 
Cal., Fourth Appellate Dist., 528 U.S. 152, 162 (2000). 

A defendant's assertion of his right to self-representation must be: "(1) clear and 
unequivocal; (2) knowing, intelligent and voluntary; and (3) timely."  Frazier-El, 
204 F.3d at 558 (citations omitted).  The right of self-representation does not exist 
to be used as a tactic for delay, for disruption, for distortion of the system, or for 
manipulation of the trial process. Id. at 560. A trial judge may refuse to permit a 
criminal defendant to represent himself when he is "'not able and willing to abide 
by rules of procedure and courtroom protocol.'"  United States v. Lopez-Osuna, 
242 F.3d 1191, 1200 (9th Cir. 2001) (quoting Savage v. Estelle, 924 F.2d 1459, 
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1463 (9th Cir. 1991)). "A trial court must be permitted to distinguish between a 
manipulative effort to present particular arguments and a sincere desire to dispense 
with the benefits of counsel." Frazier-El, 204 F.3d at 560. 

In United States v. West, 877 F.2d 281, 287 (4th Cir. 1989), the Fourth Circuit held 
a trial court was not required to make a finding the defendant disrupted a trial to 
support its removal of him as pro se counsel.  It found the defendant "directly 
attacked the [trial] court's integrity and dignity by characterizing it as the 'home 
team' on the side of the government and accusing it of imposing upon him a 
presumption of guilt."  Id. The Fourth Circuit explained, "By asserting his right of 
self-representation, [the defendant] assumed the responsibility of acting in a 
manner befitting an officer of the court.  By flouting the responsibility, he forfeited 
the right." Id. 

As the Fourth Circuit recognized in West, a defendant like Samuel who chooses 
self-representation assumes the responsibility of acting as an officer of the court.  
See id. This responsibility includes displaying candor toward the court.  See Rule 
3.3(a)(1), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR (stating a lawyer shall not knowingly "make a 
false statement of fact or law to a tribunal or fail to correct a false statement of 
material fact or law previously made to the tribunal by the lawyer").  The trial 
judge considered Samuel's and Grant's conflicting testimony concerning Grant's 
alleged assistance for Samuel's trial and found Samuel not credible.  It was within 
the province of the trial judge, as the fact-finder in the Faretta hearing, to weigh 
the credibility of the witnesses. See State v. Dorce, 320 S.C. 480, 483, 465 S.E.2d 
772, 773 (Ct. App. 1995) ("The trial judge was presented with contradicting 
testimony, and it was within his province, as the trier of fact, to weigh the 
credibility of the evidence presented to determine which witnesses he deemed 
credible."). As the record supports the trial judge's determination Samuel 
displayed an unwillingness to act as an officer of the court through his lack of 
candor, we find the trial judge did not abuse her discretion in denying his request 
to represent himself. 

AFFIRMED. 

FEW, C.J., and WILLIAMS, J., concur.   
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The South Carolina Court of Appeals 

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., successor-by-merger to 
Wachovia Bank, N.A., Respondent, 

v. 

Fallon Properties South Carolina, LLC, Timothy R. 
Fallon, Susan C. Fallon, Fallon Luminous Products 
Corporation, GE Business Capital Corporation, formerly 
Transamerica Business Capital Corporation, FSD 
Repurchase Solutions, LLC, and South Carolina 
Department of Revenue, Defendants, 

Of Whom Fallon Properties South Carolina, LLC, 
Timothy R. Fallon, and Susan C. Fallon are the 
Appellants. 

Appellate Case No. 2015-000157 

ORDER 

PER CURIAM:  In this appeal from the court of common pleas, we find that an e-
mail from the office of the master-in-equity with the order on appeal as an 
attachment constitutes written notice of entry of the order under Rule 203(b)(1) of 
the South Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure.  Because Appellants served their 
notice of appeal more than thirty days after receipt of the email, we find the appeal 
is untimely and deny the petition to rehear the dismissal of this appeal. 

This appeal arises out of a foreclosure action.  After the foreclosure sale, 
Appellants filed a petition for an order of appraisal pursuant to section 29-3-680 of 
the South Carolina Code (2007). On December 15, 2014, the master filed an order 
denying the petition. The same day, the administrative assistant to the master sent 
attorneys for both sides an e-mail stating, "Please see attached copy of signed and 
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clocked Form 4 and Order.  I have also mailed a copy to all listed on the Form 4."  
The "signed and clocked" copies of the Form 4 and order were attached to the e-
mail. The court1 sent the parties a printed copy of the order through the United 
States Postal Service, which Appellants received on December 18, 2014.   

On January 15, 2015, Appellants served Respondent with the notice of appeal from 
the December 15 order. The notice was served thirty-one days after Appellants 
received the email, but only twenty-eight days after they received the printed copy 
of the order. Respondent moved to dismiss the appeal as untimely.  In an order 
signed by a single judge, we granted the motion and dismissed the appeal.  The 
Appellants filed a petition for rehearing.  We deny the petition. 

Pursuant to Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR, a party wishing to appeal an order from the 
court of common pleas must serve the notice of appeal on the respondents "within 
thirty . . . days after receipt of written notice of entry of the order."  Since the 
adoption of Rule 203 in 1990, the only limitation ever expressed on how notice 
must be received is that it must be "written notice."  For the reasons set forth 
below, this court finds the e-mail constitutes written notice.   

The circumstances in this case are analogous to those in Canal Insurance Co. v. 
Caldwell, 338 S.C. 1, 5-6, 524 S.E.2d 416, 418 (Ct. App. 1999), in which this court 
held a fax constituted written notice under Rule 203(b)(1).  In Canal, the trial court 
issued its order on March 17, 1997; however, counsel for the appellants apparently 
did not receive a copy.  338 S.C. at 4, 524 S.E.2d at 417. Counsel contacted the 
respondent in June 1997 to inquire about the status of the order. Id. On July 8, 
1997, counsel for the respondent "responded via fax and mail," stating the order 
"had been entered on March 19 as Judgment Roll Number 211763."  Id. Counsel 
for the appellants waited a month to request a copy of the order from the clerk of 
court and did not serve the notice of appeal until March 17, 1998.  338 S.C. at 5, 
524 S.E.2d at 417-18. This court dismissed the appeal due to the appellants' 
failure to timely serve the notice of appeal, noting "there is no question that 
[counsel for the appellants] received written notice of the entry of the judgment . . . 
on July 8, 1997." 338 S.C. at 5-6, 524 S.E.2d at 418.  July 8, 1997, is the date 
counsel for the appellants received the fax from opposing counsel.  338 S.C. at 4, 
524 S.E.2d at 417. 

1 This court's file does not indicate whether the printed copy was sent by the master 
or the clerk of court. 
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Respondent's argument in this case that the e-mail was "written notice of entry of 
the judgment" is more persuasive than the argument we adopted in Canal that the 
fax was written notice.  First, the e-mail in this case was sent from the court itself, 
rather than an opposing party.  Second, the e-mail included a copy of the signed 
and clocked order, whereas the fax in Canal did not.2 See 338 S.C. at 4, 524 
S.E.2d at 417. Finally, although neither the rules of civil nor appellate procedure 
specifically authorized service by fax, e-mail has actually been contemplated by 
the rules. See, e.g., Rule 410(e), SCACR (providing that both "[t]he mailing and e-
mail address shown in the AIS [Attorney Information System] shall be used for the 
purpose of notifying and serving" an attorney).3  Counsel for Appellants was 
notified of entry of the order through the e-mail address he kept on file with the 
AIS. 

Appellants rely on White v. South Carolina Department of Health and 
Environmental Control, 392 S.C. 247, 708 S.E.2d 812 (Ct. App. 2011).  In White, 
this court interpreted Rule 203(b)(6), SCACR, which governs appeals to this court 
from the administrative law court (ALC) and provides the notice of appeal must be 
served on all parties of record within thirty days after "receipt of the decision."  
392 S.C. at 252-55, 708 S.E.2d at 814-16.  In White, the appellant received an e-
mail on January 28, 2009, containing a signed and filed copy of the decision.  392 
S.C. at 252, 708 S.E.2d at 814-15. This court held Rule 203(b)(6) contemplates 
receipt of the decision through proper service by mail or hand delivery; 
accordingly, the time for serving the notice of appeal "did not commence on the 
day that counsel received the decision via e-mail."  392 S.C. at 253, 708 S.E.2d at 
815. 

2 In Canal, the court stated that the fax from the respondent's counsel merely 
"express[ed] surprise that opposing counsel had not been notified of the judgment 
and stat[ed] that it had been entered on March 19 as Judgment Roll Number 
211763." 338 S.C. at 4, 524 S.E.2d at 417.  The court noted the appellants waited 
over a month to request a copy of the order.  338 S.C. at 6, 524 S.E.2d at 418. 

3 Attorneys practicing in South Carolina have been required since November 18, 
2011 to keep a valid e-mail address on file with the AIS.  Order RE: Attorney 
Information System Amendments and Requirements, No. 2011-10-17-01 (S.C. 
Sup. Ct. Order filed Oct. 17, 2011). 
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White is distinguishable from this case for two reasons.  First, this appeal falls 
under Rule 203(b)(1), rather than 203(b)(6).  The court in White stressed that 
service of the ALC decision via the Postal Service was imperative because Rule 
203(b)(6) requires actual "receipt of the decision," noting this is a different 
requirement than "receipt of written notice of entry of the order" as provided in 
Rule 203(b)(1). 392 S.C. at 254-55, 708 S.E.2d at 815-16.  Here, because this is 
an appeal from the court of common pleas, the time for initiating the appeal began 
to run from "receipt of written notice of entry of the order," not "receipt of the 
decision." See Rule 203(b)(1); Rule 203(b)(6).   

Second, the due process concerns addressed by the court in White are not present in 
this case. The court in White reasoned that due process would not allow it to 
recognize an e-mail as "receipt of the decision" under Rule 203(b)(6) because there 
is nothing "that authorizes service of a decision of the ALC by electronic mail."  
392 S.C. at 254, 708 S.E.2d at 815.  The court explained that in a prior case, we 
declined to hold a fax of an agency's decision sufficient to initiate the time for 
serving a notice of appeal under Rule 203(b)(6); and thus, due process would not 
allow the court to then recognize service by electronic mail when "there was no 
official written rule or notice about the binding effect of the service of an order by 
electronic mail." 392 S.C. at 253-54, 708 S.E.2d at 815 (citing Trowell v. S.C. 
Dep't of Pub. Safety, 384 S.C. 232, 681 S.E.2d 893 (Ct. App. 2009)). Conversely, 
in an appeal from the court of common pleas, the parties are on notice that a fax is 
written notice for initiating the time for serving a notice of appeal under Rule 
203(b)(1).  See Canal, 338 S.C. at 5-6, 524 S.E.2d at 417-18.   

Receipt of written notice is the critical event under Rule 203(b)(1), and Appellants 
received written notice on December 15, 2014—the date of the e-mail.  Appellants 
failed to timely serve the notice of appeal "within thirty . . . days after receipt of 
written notice." Rule 203(b)(1).  Therefore, this court lacks appellate jurisdiction, 
and we were required to dismiss the appeal.  See Rule 263(b), SCACR ("The time 
prescribed by these Rules for performing any act except the time for serving the 
notice of appeal under Rules 203 and 243 may be extended or shortened by the 
appellate court, or by any judge or justice thereof."); USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. 
v. Clegg, 377 S.C. 643, 651, 661 S.E.2d 791, 795 (2008) ("The requirement of 
service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, i.e., if a party misses the deadline, 
the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or 
discretion to 'rescue' the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for 
service of the notice."); Canal, 338 S.C. at 5, 524 S.E.2d at 418 (providing that the 
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failure of a party to serve the notice of appeal within thirty days after receiving 
written notice of the entry of the order divests this court of jurisdiction and requires 
the dismissal of the appeal).  For these reasons, the petition for rehearing is denied. 

s/John Cannon Few 	 C.J. 

s/Thomas E. Huff 	 J. 

s/Paul E. Short, Jr. 	 J. 

Columbia, South Carolina 
August 26, 2015 

cc:	 Alexander Hray, Jr., Esquire 
Rodney F. Pillsbury, Esquire 
Weyman C. Carter, Esquire 
Robert L. Widener, Esquire 
The Honorable Gordon G. Cooper 
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